
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIA

MIAMI DIVISION
07-21267-CIV -LENARITORRS

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
) Consent Order of Permanent

) Injunction, Civil Monetary Penalty

) and Other Equitable 
Relief as to

) Defendant Forefront Investments

) Limited Partership

)
)
)
)
)

UNITED STATES COMMODITY FUTURES
TRAING COMMISSION

Plaintiff,

v.

The Libert Mutual Group, Inc., Addison Financial
Group, Inc., Addison Management Group, Inc., Hamlin
Mercer Group, Inc., Colfax Management Group, Inc.
(collectively, "Addison Enterprise"), Alan Lerner,
Forefront Investments Limited Partership, Todd
Guthrie, and Benji Dayan,

INTRODUCTION

On May 16,2007, Plaintiff, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission

("Commission"), fied its Complaint for permanent injunction and other equitable relief against

defendants The Libert Mutual Group, Inc. ("LMG"), Addison Financial Group, Inc. ("Addison

Financial") and Addison Management Group, Inc. ("Addison Management") (collectively,

"AMG"), Hamlin Mercer Group, Inc. ("Hamlin Mercer") and Colfax Management Group, Inc.

("Colfax") (collectively, "HMG"), i Alan Lerner ("Lerner"), Forefront Investments Limited

Partership ("FILP"), Todd Guthrie ("Guthrie"), and Benji Dayan ("Dayan") (collectively,

"Defendants") for violations of the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended ("Act"), 7 U.S.C. §§

13a-1 et seq. (2002), and the Commission Regulations promulgated thereunder ("Regulations"),

17 C.F.R. §§ 1. et seq. (2006). On May 16,2007, this Court entered an ex parte Statutory

Restraining Order (D.E. 5), inter alia, enjoining the Defendants from further violations of the

i LMG, AMG and HMG are collectively referred to herein as the "Addison Enterprise."
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Act and Regulations, freezing relevant assets or the Derendants, and prohibiting the destruction

of books and records ("SRO Order").

I.

CONSENTS AND AGREEMENTS

Solely, to effect settlement of the matters alleged in the Complaint in this action without a

trial on the merits, presentation of evidence, or further judicial proceedings:

1. FILP agrees to entry of this Consent Order of Permanent Injunction and Equitable

Relief ("Consent Order");

2. FILP affrms that it has agreed to this Consent Order voluntarily and that no

promise or threat has been made by the Commission or any member, officer, agent, or

representative thereof, or by any other person, to induce consent to this Consent Order, other

than as set forth specifically herein;

3. FILP acknowledges proper service of the Summons and Complaint;

4. FILP admits the jurisdiction of this Court over it in this action and the subject

matter of this action pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2002);

5. FILP admits that venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2002);

6. FILP waives:

a. all claims that it may possess under the Equal Access to Justice Act

(EAJA), 5 U.S.C. § 504 (2000) and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (2000), and/or Part 148 of 
the

Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §§ 148.1, et seq. (2008), relating to or arising from this action;

b. any claim that it may possess under the Small Business Regulatory

Enforcement Fairness Act, 1996 HR 3136, Pub. L. 104-121, § § 231-232, 110 Stat. 862-
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63 (Mar. 29, 1996), as amended by Pub.L. No.1 10-28, 121 Stat. 112 (2007), relating to

or arising from this action;

c. any claim of Double Jeopardy based upon the institution of this

proceeding or the entry in this proceeding of any order imposing a civil monetary penalty

or any other relief; and

d. all rights of appeal from this action;

7. FILP consents to the continued jurisdiction of this Court for the purpose of

enforcing the terms and conditions of this Consent Order and for any other purposes relevant to

this action, even if FILP now or in the future operates outside the Southern District of Florida;

8. FILP agrees that neither it nor any 9f its agents, employees, contractors,

representatives or attorneys shall take any action or make any public statement denying, directly

or indirectly, any allegations in the Complaint or findings in this Consent Order, or creating or

tending to create the impression that the Complaint or this Consent Order are without factual

basis; provided, however, that nothing in this provision shall affect FILP's: i) testimonial

obligations; or ii) right to take legal positions in other proceedings to which the Commission is

not a part. FILP shall undertake all steps necessary to assure that all of its agents, employees,

contractors, representatives or attorneys under its authority and/or actual or constructive control

understand and comply with this agreement;

9. In consenting to the entry of this Consent Order, FILP neither admits nor denies

the allegations of the Complaint or the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law contained in

this Consent Order, except as to jurisdiction and venue, which it admits. FILP, however, agrees

and intends that all of the allegations of the Complaint and all of the Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law made by this Court and contained in Part II of this Consent Order shall be

3

Case 1:07-cv-21267-EGT     Document 179      Entered on FLSD Docket 12/04/2008     Page 3 of 42



taken as true and correct and be given preclusive effect, without furter proof, in the course of

(l) any current or subsequent bankrptcy proceeding fied by, on behalf of, or against any

Defendant; (2) a proceeding to enforce this Consent Order; or (3) a proceeding pursuant to

Section 8a of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 12a(I), and/or Par 3 of the Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §§ 3.1 et

seq.;

10. FILP shall provide the Commission with immediate notice of any bankruptcy

fied by, on behalf of, or against it and shall provide reasonable notice (within thirt days) of any

change of address, phone number, or contact information in the manner required by Part V of

this Consent Order until such time as its obligations set forth in the Consent Order are satisfied;

and

i 1. No provision of this Consent Order shall in any way limit or impair the abilty of

any person to seek any legal or equitable remedy against FILP in any other proceeding.

II.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Court, being fully advised in the premises, finds that there is good cause for the entry

of this Consent Order and that there is no just reason for delay. The Court therefore directs the

entr of the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law without a trial on the merits,

presentation of evidence, or further judicial proceedings.

A. Findings of Fact

The Parties

i. The United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent

federal regulatory agency that is charged with responsibility for administering and enforcing the

provisions of the Act and the Regulations.

4
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2. Forefront Investments Limited Partnership was incorporated in Florida on

January 18,2005. FILP's registered business address is listed as 2999 NE 1918t Street, Suite

804, Aventura, Florida. From January 18,2005 through June 28, 2005, Dayan was listed with

the Florida State Division of Corporations as the general parter ofFILP. On June 29, 2005,

Dayan resigned as General Parter of FILP and FFLP Holdings, Inc. ("FFLP"), a holding firm

owned by Guthrie, became FILP's General Partner. Dayan, however, remained as a limited

partner ofFILP and continued to own over 99% ofFILP. During the relevant period, either

Guthrie and/or Dayan controlled the day-to-day operations ofFILP. From February 7, 2005

through April 14, 2006, FILP entered into successive introducing agreements with LMG, AMG,

and HMG for the purpose of acting as the counterpar to the off-exchange foreign currency

("forex") options transactions solicited by LMG. FILP has never been registered with the

Commission in any capacity, nor has it ever been a material affliate ofa registrant.

Off-Exchange Forex Operation

3.. From at least Februar 2005 through June 2006 (the "relevant period"), the

Addison Enterprise solicited retail customers to engage in off-exchange forex options

transactions with FILP as the counterpart to each trasaction. During the relevant period, the

Addison Enterprise firms, including LMG, AMG, and HMG, operated as a common enterprise.

4. FILP accepted orders and funds from customers solicited by the Addison

Enterprise for the purpose of trading off-exchange forex options transactions. FILP deposited

these customer funds into segregated accounts maintained and controlled by FILP.

5. Most, if not all, of the retail customers solicited by the Addison Enterprise,

possessed assets ofless than $5,000,000. Most, if not all, of the customers entered into the forex

options transactions for the purpose of speculating on price movements and not to manage any
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risk associated with any asset owned or liabilty incurred, or reasonably likely to be owned or

incurred.

6. During the relevant period, customers solicited by the Addison Enterprise rarely

made profits and were exposed to significant risk of loss. In fact, customers solicited by the

Addison Enterprise lost at least $7,081,036.63 out of approximately $7,611,306.46 that they

deposited. During this same period, Addison Enterprise generated commissions totaling

approximately $3,329,524.50.

7. The Addison Enterprise firms have never been registered with the Commission in

any capacity.

8. FILP has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity nor has it

ever been an affliated person of a Futures Commission Merchant ("FCM") registered under the

Act that is required to make or keep records under Section 4f(c)(2)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §

6f(c)(2)(B) (2002). Accordingly, FILP was not a proper counterpart to the forex transactions

entered into with the customers solicited by the Addison Enterprise.

9. At all times during the relevant period, Lerner was the President of each company

comprising the Addison Enterprise and exercised control over the day-to-day operations of the

Addison Enterprise firms.

10. At all times during the relevant period, Dayan and/or Guthrie controlled the day-

to-day operations ofFILP. From approximately January 18,2005 though June 28, 2005, Dayan

was listed as the general partner ofFILP. From June 29, 2005 through May 16,2007, Guthrie

was listed as the President ofFFLP, the general parter ofFILP. Guthrie, as Chief Financial

Offcer, and Dayan, as President, controlled the bank account into which FILP deposited the

Addison Enterprise's customer funds. During the relevant period, Guthrie and/or Dayan signed
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checks on behalf ofFILP. Dayan and Guthrie were responsible for hiring and supervising

employees ofFILP. Dayan and Guthrie, on behalfofFILP, signed the introducing agreements

entered into by Addison Enterprise.

Fraudulent Solicitation of Customers

11. During the relevant period, Addison Enterprise employees, who were under the

control of Lerner, routinely made misleading statements to prospective customers regarding the

likelihood of making large profits, including, but not limited to, the following or words to this

effect:

. that small moves in the price of the Euro would make it easy enough to

double or triple accounts in six to nine months;

. that the customer could realize a profit in thirt (30) days and a 200% return

in ninety (90) days;

. that a few cents move in the currency would generate large profits;

. that if the customer invested with the account executive, the account

executive "could assure possible high profits." This account executive also

asked the customer to "Promise me that when I make you a millonaire you

wil come and visit me;"

. that the account executive made several clients wealthy and that the account

executive would make the customer a lot of money too;

. that the account executive was making "so much" money and the people he

made trades for were making "so much" money. The account executive

laughed about how the customer would come to Florida and buy him dinner

and drinks after he made all of this money for the customer; and
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. that other customers were successÎul and making lots of money.

Given these statements of profit potential, a reasonable investor would have found it material to

learn that a vast majority of Addison Enterprise customers closed their accounts at a loss.

12. During the relevant period, Addison Enterprise employees, who were under the

control of Lerner, routinely made misleading statements to prospective customers regarding the

risk of loss associated with trading forex options, including, but not limited to, the following or

words to this effect:

. that the customer should not"worry because the account executives were

experts and they used a strategy of splitting transactions that spread the risk.

This customer lost $85,310 of his $86,000 investment;

. that although there was risk, as long as the customer followed the account

executive's advice, he would manage the investment and make money for the

customer. This account executive also claimed to have field representatives

all across the globe, monitoring the local climate and giving up-to-the-second

advice on investing. This customer lost approximately $108,500 of his

$116,000 investment;

. that the customer should buy contracts for both the upside and the downside

because the upside contrcts would make a lot of money while the downside

would cover the investment if the currency price went down. This customer

lost $141,960 of his approximately $143,700 investment; and

. that if the customer worked with the account executive, there would be low

risk to the customer's capital, with losses, ifany, being small. Another

account executive represented to this customer that "I promise I won't let this

8
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trade hurt you. Ifit starts to go against us, I wil get you out. ..." This

customer lost $194,895 of his $194,900 investment.

Given these statements that misleadingly minimized the risk of loss, a reasonable investor would

have found it material to learn that a vast majority of Addison Enterprise customers closed their

accounts at a loss.

13. In addition to such statements, Addison Enterprise employees provided actual and

prospective customers with misleading profit ilustrations that made it seem that profits were

likely in that they represented that there was a direct correlation between an increase in the value

of a foreign currncy and the resulting profit to the holder of a call option for that currency.

These profit ilustrations were memorialized in scripts provided to Addison Enterprise

employees. Lerner was aware of these scripts and that they were provided to Addison Enterprise

employees. One ofthe scripts provides a hypothetical example of what is described as a

"tremendous profit making opportunity." The èxample represents that one contract would

leverage $150,000 and that each penny move equals $1,500 in profit. The example further

suggests that the customer could realize a gross profit of$150,000 if they purchased 10 contracts

based on a projected 10 cent increase in the value of the foreign currency. Immediately

following this profit example, the script reads: "Tell me , is that the type of

money you're looking to make and if we're only half right, I don't think you wil be too

unhappy, do you agree?" These representations together convey the message that a prospective

customer could expect to make a significant profit based upon small upward movements in the

value of a foreign currency. Given these statements of profit potential, a reasonable investor

would have found it material to learn that a vast majority of Addison Enterprise customers closed

their accounts at a loss.

9
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14. Lerner knew that Addison Enterprise employees were making statements that

over-emphasized profit potential or minimized risk of loss. Lerner also knew that most Addison

Enterprise custorners closed their accounts at a loss, and many at a substantial loss. Despite such

knowledge, Lerner did not direct Addison Enterprise employees to disclose to actual and

prospective customers the losses sustained by Addison Enterprise customers. As a result, .

Addison Enterprise account executives did not disclose to actual and prospective customers the

losses sustained by Addison Enterprise customers while making stateme~ts that overemphasized

profit potential or minimized risk of loss.

The Addison Enterprise's Agency Relationship with FILP

15. During the relevant period, FILP entered into introducing agreements with each of

the firms comprising the Addison Enterprise.

16. Each of the introducing agreements b.etween FILP and the Addison Enterprise

were identical in content.

17. Lerner signed each of the introducing agreements on behalf of the Addison

Enterprise.

18. Dayan and/or Guthrie signed each of the introducing agreements on behalf of

FILP.

i 9. From at least February 2005 through February 2006, the Addison Enterprise

introduced customers exclusively to FILP. The various entities that comprised the Addison

Enterprise, as well as their employees, acted as agents to FILP.

20. As part of the Addison Enterprise/FILP business arrangement, FILP provided the

Addison Enterprise with its account opening documents. FILP also provided the Addison

10

Case 1:07-cv-21267-EGT     Document 179      Entered on FLSD Docket 12/04/2008     Page 10 of 42



Enterprise with business continuity documents, which outlined how the Addison Enterprise was

to operate its business.

21. FILP provided the Addison Enterprise with promotional materials, including

charts and news articles concerning forex to be provided to potential customers. FILP provided

such materials to the Addison Enterprise to assist it in soliciting more business for 
"FLP.

22. Moreover, on a daily basis, FILP provided the Addison Enterprise with trade

recommendations, including the bid and ask prices of specific forex options contracts. Addison

Enterprise employees would provide to customers these trade recommendations. The trade

recommendations made by FILP were frequently out-of-the- money, and deep-out-of-the-money

options. FILP provided such trade recommendations to the Addison Enterprise to assist it in

generating more business for FILP.

23. The Addison Enterprise charged customers $240 per round-turn for each option

transaction and $380 for each spread transaction. These commissions were collected by FILP.

24. FILP deducted a "clearing fee" from the commissions owed to the Addison

Enterprise. The clearing fees were held by FILP as a "legal fund" on behalf of the Addison

Enterprise. Specifically, these funds were set aside by FILP to be used to settle any disputes

Addison Enterprise customers had concerning their trading accounts.

25. Larr Freedberg ("Freedberg") was hired by FILP to be the customer service

representative for FILP. Freedberg was also listed as an employee of AMG on AMG internal

business documents. Freedberg negotiated settlement agreements between AMG customers and

AMG and FILP. Freedberg signed these agreements on behalf of AMG and FILP.

26. Joseph Prager ("Prager"), an employee of Addison Management and Hamlin

Mercer in 2005 and early 2006, also received a payment in the amount of $6,43 i .64 from FlLP
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,
1

in September 2005. In 2005 and 2006, Prager was also a contract employee for F8 Real Estate

Management, Inc. ("F8 Real Estate"), which was a firm engaged by Guthrie to provide back-

offce services and act as a paymaster for FILP. Between November 2005 and June 2006, Prager -,-

was paid approximately $61,375 by F8 Real Estate.

B. Conclusions of Law

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action and all paries

hereto pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l, which authorizes the Commission to

seek injunctive relief against any person whenever it shall appear that such person has engaged, is

engaging or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of

the Act or any rule, regulation or order thereunder.

2. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 13a-l, in that all Defendants are found in, inhabit, or transact business in this district, and/or the

acts and practices in violation of the Act have occurred, are occurring, or are about to occur

within this district, among other places.

3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over FILP, pursuant to Section 6c of the Act,

7 U.S.C., § 13a-l, which acknowledges service of the Complaint and consents to the Court's

jurisdiction over it.

4. The Commission and FILP have agreed to this Court's continuing jurisdiction

over each of them for the purpose of enforcing the terms of this Order, and for any other purposes

relevant to this action.

Violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act and Regulation 32.1l(a)

5. By the conduct described in Section II.A above, FILP, by and through its

employees, solicited and/or accepted orders and/or funds for the purchase and sale of forex
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options contracts that were not conàucted on or subject to the rules of a contract market or

foreign board of trade, in violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(b) (2002), and

Regulation 32.11 (a), 17 C.F.R. § 32.1 i (a)(2006).

Violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act and Regulations L.Hb)(l),(3) and 32.9(a),(c)

6. By the conduct described in Section II.A above, Lerner, by and through Addison

Enterprise employees, in connection with offers to enter into, the entry of, the confirmation of the

execution of forex options transactions, cheated or defrauded or attempted to cheat or defraud

customers, and deceived or attempted to deceive customers, in violation of Section 4c(b) of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(b) (2002), and Regulations 1.1(b)(I) and (3), and 32.9(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§

l.(b)(l) and (3), and 32.9(a) and (c) (2006).

7. Lerner was acting as an agent of or acting for the Addison Enterprise entities when

he cheated or defrauded or attempted to cheat or defraud customers, and deceived or attempted to

deceive custom~rs and, therefore, pursuant to Section 2(a)(I)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B)

(2002), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F .R. § 1.2 (2006), the Addison Enterprise entities are liable for

Lerner's violations of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(b) (2002), and Regulations

l.(b)(I) and (3), and 32.9(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ l.(b)(l) and (3), and 32.9(a) and (c) (2006).

8. Addison Enterprise was acting as the agent of or acting for FILP when it

fraudulently solicited customers, and therefore pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 2(a)(l)(B) (2002), and Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2006), FILP is liable for Addison

Enterprise's violations of Section 4c(b) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(b) (2002), and Regulations

l.(b)(l) and (3), and 32.9(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ l.(b)(I) and (3), and 32.9(a) and (c) (2006).
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III.

ORDER OF PERMANENT INJUNCTION

Based upon and in connection 'with the foregoing conduct, pursuarit to Section6c of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l,

IT is HEREBY ORDERED that:

1. FILP is permanently restrained, enjoined, and prohibited from directly or

indirectly cheating or defrauding or attempting to cheat or defraud other persons and wilfully

deceiving or attempting to deceive other persons in or in connection with an offer to enter into,

the entry into, or the confirmation of the execution of any commodity option transaction,

including options transactions in foreign currency, subject to the Commission's jurisdiction, in

violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6c(b) (2002), and Regulations l.(b)(I) and (3),

and 32.9(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1(b)(l) and (3), and 32.9(a) and (c) (2006).

2. HLP is permanently prohibited from engaging, directly or indirectly, in any

activity related to trading in any commodity, as that term is defined in Section la(4) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. § la(4) ("commodity interest"), including, but not limited to, the following:

a) trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, as that term is defined in

Section la(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(29);

b) engaging in, controllng or directing the trading for any commodity interest
account for or on behalf of any other person or entity, whether by power of
attorney or otherwise;

c) applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with the

Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such
registration or exemption from registration with the Commission, except as
provided for in Regulation 4.l4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.l4(a)(9), or acting as a
principal, agent or any other offcer or employee of any person registered,
exempted from registration or required to be registered with the Commission,
except as provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9);
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d) entering into any commodity. interest transactions for FILP's own accounts, for
any account in which FILP has a direct or indirect interest, and/or having any
commodity interests traded on its behalf; and

e) engaging in any business activities related to commodity interest trading,
including options transactions in foreign currency, subject to the Commission's
jurisdiction.

iv.

ORDER FOR OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that:

Appointment of Monitor

I. To effect payment by FILP and distribution of restitution, the NF A is appointed as

Monitor ("Monitor"). The Monitor shall collect restitution payments from FILP and make

distributions as set forth below. Because the Monitor is not being specially compensated for

these services, and these services are outside the normal duties of the Monitor, the Monitor shall

not be liable for any action or inaction arising from its appointment as Monitor, other than

actions involving fraud.

Restitution Obligations

2. FILP shall be obligated to pay restitution, jointly and severally with any other

Defendant ordered to pay restitution in this action, for customer losses in the amount of

$7,081,036.63, plus post-judgment interest.

3. Post-judgment interest shall accrue commencing upon date of entry of the

Consent Order.2 The post-judgment interest rate shall be determined by using the Treasury Bil

rate prevailng on the date of entry of the Consent Order, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961.

4. FILP's restitution obligation is immediateiy due and owing.

2 The date of 
the "entr of the Consent Order" shall be the date the Court signs the Consent Order.
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5. FILP shall make restitution payments under this Consent Order payable to "The

Libert Mutual Group et aL. Settlement Fund" and shall send such restitution payments by

electronic funds transfer, or by U.S. postal money order, certified check, bank cashier's, or bank

money order, to Offce of Administration, National Futures Association, 300 South Riverside

Plaza, Suite 1800, Chicago, Ilinois 60606, under cover letter that identifies FILP and the name

and docket number of the proceeding. FILP shall simultaneously transmit copies of the cover

letter and the form of payment to: (a) the Director, Division of Enforcement, Commodity Futures

Trading Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1152 21st Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20581,

and (b) the Chief, Offce of Cooperative Enforcement,. at the same address.

6. In the event that PILP receives funds in connection with the forex operation

described herein, FILP shall immediately pay such funds to the Monitor, except as provided in

paragraph 7 of this Section.

7. The Monitor shall oversee FILP's restitution obligation and shall have discretion

to determine the manner for distribution of funds in an equitable fashion to customers identified

in Attchment A, fied in camera, as appropriate, or may defer distribution until such time as it

deems appropriate. In the event that the amount of restitution payments to the Monitor are of a

de minimis nature such that the Monitor determines that the administrative costs of the making of

a restitution distribution is impractical, the Monitor may, in its discretion, treat such restitution

payments as civil monetary penalty payments, which the Monitor shall forward to the

Commission following the instructions for civil monetary penalty payments set forth in

paragraph 14 of this Section.

8. Attachment B to this Order, fied in camera, is a list of accounts held in the name

ofPILP at various banks. Each bank listed in Attachme~t B is hereby authorized and directed to

16

Case 1:07-cv-21267-EGT     Document 179      Entered on FLSD Docket 12/04/2008     Page 16 of 42



transfer to the Monitor, within thirt (30) days of service oîthis Order, all funds in the listed

accounts, less any amounts required to cover the financial institutions' outstading

administrative or wire transfer fees. Each bank listed in Attachment A shall contact the Monitor

for transfer instructions. At no time shall any defendant be afforded access to, or be provided

with any funds from, these accounts. Defendants shall cooperate fully with the banks and the

Monitor in ensuring the transfer of these funds. i

9. Nothing herein shall be constred in any way to limit or abridge the fights of any

customer that exist under state or common law.

10. To the extent that any funds accrue to the U.S. Treasury as a result of the

restitution obligations in this Consent Order, such funds shall be transferred to the Monitor for

disbursement in accordance with the procedures set fort in paragraph 7 of this Section.

Civil Monetary Penalty

I 1. FILP shall pay a Civil Monetary Penalty ("CMP") in the amount of

$ i ,065,459.61.

12. Post-judgment interest shall accrue commencing on the date this Consent Order is

entered. The post-judgment interest rate shall be determined by using the Treasury Bil rate

prevailing on the date this Consent Order is entered, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961.

13. FILP's CMP obligation is immediately due and owing, subject to paragraphs 14

and 15 of this Section. FILP shall pay the CMP obligation by electronic funds transfer, U.S.

postal money order, certified check, bank cashier's check, or bank money order. Ifpayment is to

be made other than by electronic funds transfer, the payment shall be made payable to the

Commodity Futures Trading Commission and sent to the address below:.

Commodity Futures Trading Commission
Division of Enforcement
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ATf: Marie Bateman - AMZ-300
DOTIFZZIMMAC
6500 S. MacArthur Blvd.
Oklahoma City, OK 73169
Telephone: (405) 954-6569

If payment by electronic transfer is chosen, FILP shall contact Marie Bateman or her successor at

the address above to receive payment instructions and shall fully comply with those instructions.

FILP shall accompany payment of the CMP with a cover letter that identifies himself as the

payor and the name and docket number of this proceeding. FILP shall simultaneoùsly transmit

copies of the cover letter and the form of payment to (a) the Director, Division of Enforcement,

Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581, and

(b) the Chief, Offce of Cooperative Enforcement,Division of Enforcement, at the same address.

Priority of Monetary Sanctions and Partial Payments

14. All payments by FILP pursuant to this Consent Order shall first be applied to

satisfaction ofFILP's restitution obligation, consistent with the authority granted the Monitor,

above. After satisfaction ofFILP's restitution obligation, payments by FILP pursuant to this

Consent Order shall be applied to satisfy his CMP obligation.

15. Any acceptance by the Commission and/or Monitor of partial payment ofFILP's

restitution obligation and/or CMP obligation shall not be deemed a waiver of the respective

requirement to make further payments pursuant to this Consent Order, or a waiver of the

Commission's and/or Monitor's right to seek to compel payment of any remaining balance.

Lifting of Asset Freeze

16. Except as provided in Paragrph IV.8., above, upon the entry of this Consent

Order, the provisions of the Court's May 16,2007 SRO that impose a freeze on FILP's assets
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shall be lifted. Pursuant to this paragraph, the asset freeze is lifted from the accounts identified

in Attachment C, fied in camera.

V.

OTHER PROVISIONS

1. Continuing Jurisdiction of This Court: This Court shall retain jurisdiction over

FILP to assure compliance with this Order and for all other purposes related to this action.

2. Notices: All notices required to be given by any provision in this Order shall be

sent certified mail, return receipt requested, as follows: Notice to the Commission: Attention,

Director of Enforcement, Commodity Futures Trading Commission, Division of Enforcement,

1155 21st Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20581. Notice to FILP: Attention, counsel of record.

3. Waiver: The failure of any part to this Consent Order at any time or times to

require performance of any provision hereof shall in no manner affect the right of such part at a

later time to enforce the same or any other provision of this Consent Order. No waiver in one or

more instances of the breach of any provision contained in this Consent Order shall be deemed or

constred as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or waiver of the breach of any other

provision of this Consent Order.

4. Equitable Relief: The equitable relief provisions of this Consent Order shall be

binding upon FILP and any person who is acting in the capacity of officer, agent, employee,

servant ofFILP, and any person acting in active concert or participation with FILP who receives

actual notice of this Consent Order by personal service or otherwise.

5. Acknowledgments: Upon being served with a copy of this Consent Order after

entr by this Court PILP shall sign an acknowledgment of service and serve such

acknowledgment on this Court and the Commission within seven days.
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6. Invalidation: If any provision or the application of any provision of this Consent

Order is held invalid, the remainder of the Consent Order and the application of the provision to

any other person shall not be affected by the holding.

7. Entire Agreement and Amendments: This Consent Order incorporates"all ofthe

terms and conditions of the settlement among the parties hereto. Nothing shall serve to amend or

modify this Consent Order in any respect whatsoever, unless: (1) reduced to writing; (2) signed

by all parties hereto; and (3) approved by further order of this Court.

8. Authorization: Dayan hereby warrants that: he is the owner ofFILP; this Consent

Order has been duly authorized by FILP; and he has been duly empowered to sign and submit

this Consent Order on behalf of FILP.

There being no just reason for delay, the Clerk of the Court is hereby directed to enter

this Consent Order.

Done and ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida this _ day of

2008.

Honorable Edwin G. Torres
United States Magistrate Judge
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ATTACHMENT
B
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FOREFRONT INESTMENTS LIMD P ARTNERSmP
FUNS TO BE TRASFERRD TO MONITOR

Baning Institution Account No. Account Balance

Wachovia 2000023592276 $240,677.93
Washington Mutu 1880136867 $301,928.72
Eagle Ban 4000523224 $2,672.25
Regions Ban 96-6041-0458 $124.03
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C
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FOREFRONT INVSTMNTS LIMITED PARTNRSmp
F's TO BE RELEASED

Banng Institution Account No. Account Balance
Wachovia , 2000023592263 $10,291.87
Washilron Mutl 1880136859 $9,328.03
Eagle Ban 4000522424 $62.00
Reinons Ban 96-6041-0433 $15.20
Ban of America 005567604135 $59.58
Comtrt COMI0497 $100.00
Comtrt COMI0391 $100.00
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